THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAY 14 2020

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Post Conviction Relief

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

App. Case No. 2020-000205

H. Dewain Herring,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina

Respondent.

PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Tricia A. Blanchette
Post Office Box 2147
Leesville, SC 29070
(803) 908-3266
Attorney for Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the lower court erred by failing to find that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to properly address Petitioner's mental health, which resulted in prejudice to Petitioner that requires a new trial.

- I. Whether the lower court erred by failing to find that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to properly prepare and fully utilize a crime scene investigation expert prior to and during trial, which resulted in prejudice to Petitioner that requires a new trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law. Smalls v. State, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. Webb v. State, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate court "will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law." Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to Orders of commitment from the Richland County Clerk of Court. During the February 2006 term of the Richland County Grand Jury, Petitioner was indicted for Murder (2006-GS-40-00881) and Pointing and Presenting a Firearm (2006-GS-40-00914). App. p. 2355. On May 7, 2007, Petitioner proceeded to trial in front of the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. and a jury at the Richland County Courthouse. App. p. 1. Petitioner was represented by Richard A. Harpootlian, Esquire. On May 21, 2007, Petitioner was found guilty as indicted. The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., sentenced Petitioner to a term of thirty (30) years on the murder conviction and five (5) years concurrent on the pointing and presenting a firearm conviction. App. pp. 2359, 2364.

A direct appeal was filed and perfected by Richard A. Harpootlian, Esquire. App. p. 2365. On December 21, 2009, the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence. State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 692 S.E.2d 490 (2009). App. p. 2489. A timely Petition for Rehearing was filed and denied on May 14, 2010. App. pp. 2504, 2526. The Remittitur was handed down on May 14, 2010. App. p. 2528.

On January 20, 2011, Petitioner, through James M. Griffin, Esquire, filed a Petition for Habeas Corpus. App. p. 2530. A First Amended Petition and First Amended Memorandum were filed on April 20, 2011. App. pp. 2359, 2548. A Return and Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment was filed on April 29, 2011. App. p. 2592. A Memorandum in Response to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and Reply to Respondent's Return was filed on June 14, 2011. App. p. 2670. The Report and Recommendation of the Honorable Paige J. Gossett, United States

Magistrate Judge, was issued and filed on January 25, 2012. App. p. 2687. Petitioner's Objections to the Magistrate Judge's Report and Recommendations was filed on February 13, 2012. App. p. 2712. The Honorable Margaret B. Seymour, Chief United States District Judge, issued an Opinion and Order on March 19, 2012, which accepted the Magistrate's Report and Recommendation, dismissed the petition and denied a certificate of appealability. App. p. 2724. Petitioner, through counsel, filed a Notice of Appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit on April 18, 2012, which was dismissed via unpublished Opinion on August 21, 2012. App. p. 2745.

On June 4, 2010, Petitioner filed an Application for Post Conviction Relief. App. p. 2746. The State submitted a Return on July 21, 2010. App. p. 2753. On March 21, 2014, Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire, was substituted as Petitioner's counsel. App. p. 2764.

On August 6, 2014, Petitioner, through counsel, filed a Motion for Discovery in Post Conviction Relief. On September 5, 2014, a motion hearing was held in front of the Honorable Robert E. Hood at the Richland County Courthouse. Thereafter, the Honorable Robert E. Hood issued an Order Authorizing Discovery. App. p. 2767. A subsequent Order for Discovery was issued by the Honorable Tanya A. Gee on September 1, 2015. App. p. 2779.

On September 12, 2016, Petitioner, through counsel, filed an Amendment to Application for Post Conviction Relief. App. p. 2780. By way of the Amendment, Petitioner abandoned any claim(s) of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel and moved to specifically allege ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

On January 4, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was convened at the Richland County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Jocelyn Newman. App. p. 2784. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Jessica E. Kinard, Assistant Attorney General. At the outset of the hearing, PCR counsel gave an opening argument addressing the issues raised and providing references to the trial transcript. Petitioner was sworn and questioned by the court regarding his desire to proceed on his Application, and he affirmed that he was seeking a new trial. App. pp. 2789-91. Petitioner, through counsel called the following witnesses: Tora Brawley, Ph.D., Donna Schwartz Maddox, M.D., Richard A. Harpootlian, Esquire, R. Robert Tressel, and Peter Skidmore. At the conclusion of the hearing, the court allowed time to obtain the evidentiary hearing transcript and subsequently requested proposed Orders from both parties. App. p. 3009.

On May 9, 2019, the Honorable Jocelyn Newman issued an Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief, which was filed on May 10, 2019. App. p. 3067. Petitioner filed a Motion Pursuant to Rule 59(a) & (e), SCRPC, on May 20, 2019. App. p. 3091. A Form Four Order Denying Petitioner's Motion was signed on January 3, 2020 and filed on January 7, 2020. App. p. 3126. An Amended Form Four Order was issued on February 10, 2020 and filed on February 14, 2020, from which the Notice of Appeal was timely filed and this Petition follows. App. p. 3128.

ARGUMENT

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Where an application for post conviction relief alleges

ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Id. 466 U.S. at 686; see Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Bell v. State, 321 S.C. 238 (1996); see also Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 238 (1989); Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC.

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117–18.

- I. The lower court erred by failing to find that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to properly address Petitioner's mental health, which resulted in prejudice to Petitioner that requires a new trial.

Petitioner submits that the lower court erred by failing to find that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to properly address Petitioner's mental health, which resulted in prejudice to Petitioner that requires a new trial. As a

result, Petitioner urges this Court to consider the following, in conjunction with the complete record, and reverse the lower court's denial of relief.

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner called Dr. Tora Brawley to the stand, and she was qualified as an expert in the area of neuropsychology. App. p. 2820. When asked to explain neuropsychology, Dr. Brawley responded: "Neuropsychology is the study of brain behavior relationships. We conduct specific testing that looks at how different areas of the brain are actually working. Where an MRI gives you a picture of the brain, these tests tell us how the areas are functioning, how they are – at what capacity they are functioning." App. p. 2820, lns. 10-16. She conducted a neuropsychological evaluation of Petitioner, including a clinical interview and battery of neuropsychological tests, on March 15, 2016, and her report generated from that evaluation was admitted. App. pp. 2821-2824. She explained that post evaluation she reviewed a cognitive testing report prepared by William E. Haxton, Ph.D., from a neuropsychological evaluation he conducted on June 17, 2006. App. pp. 2823, 3061. She also explained how she determined that the results of her testing were valid. App. pp. 2824-2825. Dr. Brawley summarized her findings, as follows:

Mr. Herring had several areas of deficit. He had deficits of verbal learning, verbal memory, verbal fluency, abstract reasoning, motor functioning. He was very low, for instance, at the fourth percentile, for his memory for a story. He was at the second percentile for his ability to copy a figure. So, overall I felt that these results were consistent with mild dementia. He was also reporting some depression, but I didn't feel like that could account for what I was seeing here.

The fact that he had such high level premorbid or what we consider beforehand abilities, and he is conversationally, what I call conversationally intact, he can mask some of those deficits to people if they are just having a general conversation with him. It is not until you get to the actual testing that you find the extent of the organicity that we have got here.

App. p. 2825, ln. 20 – p. 2826, ln. 13. She also explained her finding that Petitioner was “tangential,” as follows: “He had a hard time staying on task and on questions. I would ask a question and he would start to answer it, and then would go off and I had to kind of reel him back in. It was hard to keep him on task.” App. p. 2826, lns. 17-21.

Dr. Brawley also testified about the dementia interviews she conducted with Petitioner’s family. She discovered that Petitioner’s family had noticed changes in Petitioner’s cognition for years prior to 2006, but they had attributed it to his psychiatric symptoms and alcohol consumption. App. pp. 2828-2830.

Throughout her testimony, Dr. Brawley addressed Dr. Haxton’s evaluation and report from 2006. Dr. Brawley explained that the premorbid level of functioning she found was consistent with what Dr. Haxton found in 2006. App. p. 2827. Specifically, she testified:

And Dr. Haxton also did a battery of testing. A lot of similar tests that I give, some were a little bit different, but they were comparable. I was able to compare scores. He had declined in a couple of areas since that testing. But at that time Dr. Haxton noted that he had mild to moderate loss of cognitive functioning, marked ---

Again, my results are consistent with those of Dr. Haxton. He also noted some perseveration or repeating, some of the same behavioral things that I noted in my report. And he felt that also his deficits impaired his ability to successfully maintain his legal practice at this time, which was the question that Dr. Steude had posed to him. So he did note significant impairments in cognition at that time.

App. p. 2830, lns. 6-20, p. 2832, ln. 5-15. When asked on cross-examination if Dr. Haxton’s findings were a precursor to the conditions she found, she responded: “I think that Dr. Haxton’s findings show that there was also dementia present at the time that he evaluated him in 2006.” App. p. 2834, lns. 4-9. Dr. Brawley indicated that she would

have been willing to work with trial counsel prior to and throughout Petitioner's case, but she was not contacted. App. p. 2833.

When Dr. Donna Maddox took the stand, she was qualified as an expert in the area of forensic psychiatry. App. p. 2841. She addressed the materials she relied upon in reaching her findings, which included the file of Dr. Steude (Petitioner's treating psychiatrist at the time of the crime and trial) and neuropsychological evaluation done by Dr. Haxton dated June 17, 2006. App. pp. 2843-2844. She evaluated Petitioner at Kirkland Correctional Institution in September of 2015 and requested a neuropsychological evaluation and family interviews by Dr. Tora Brawley. She addressed the causes she identified that contributed to Petitioner's dementia. She also explained that Dr. Haxton's report and Dr. Steude's file were helpful to establish that Petitioner was suffering from dementia at the time of his crime. App. pp. 2844-2845.

Regarding her interview of Petitioner, she recounted that it was clear that "he was having cognitive difficulty." App. p. 2848, lns. 6- 8. Specifically, she testified:

What I noticed in the exam, he would often – as Dr. Brawley mentioned, he was very circumstantial. It was very hard to just get – he had a lot of information he wanted to share, but he would get so distracted, and would kind of go from one topic to the other, that it was very difficult to get him to cooperate, even though he was trying. So I had much more luck when I administered -- part of my exam is I do neurological evaluation, and I also do a neuropsychological screening. So I had him do some tests. And those tests showed symptoms of dementia.

App. p. 2848, lns. 9-21. She addressed Petitioner's dementia diagnosis, as follows:

Persons with dementia, they can have different levels of functioning. Mr. Herring appears a lot more intact than what he is because he has very good vocal skills and he can answer questions. The problem is there is a lot of other things that your brain does that is important to dementia. So I did not have Dr. Haxton's results until after the testing as well. So they confirmed. It was very helpful for this case in particular because they

were present -- they would have been available around the time of his offense, and they were certainly very similar with Dr. Brawley's findings.

App. p. 2850, lns. 20 – p. 2851, ln. 7.¹

Dr. Maddox addressed each diagnoses listed in her report. Specifically, she opined that within a reasonable degree of medical certainty Petitioner was suffering from a neurocognitive disorder at the time of his offense, which was verified for her by the information contained in Dr. Haxton's report and interviews of Petitioner's family. App. pp. 2854-2855.

Dr. Maddox addressed her concerns with the medications administered to Petitioner prior to his police interrogation and written statement. She explained that "intramuscular medications like Ativan, which is what he received, that can cause disinhibitions. It worsens dementia." App. p. 2858, ln. 25 – 2859, ln. 2. She further explained that the medication could account for Petitioner not remembering what he said during the interview or volunteering more information than he normally would have without the medication. App. pp. 2859-2860.

Dr. Maddox acknowledged that she had previously worked with trial counsel and would have been willing to assist him with Petitioner's case. App. pp. 2861-2862. She indicated that she would have followed the same methodology and felt confident, based upon Dr. Haxton's test results, she would have reached the same diagnosis. App. pp. 2862-2863. She agreed that she would have been willing to consult and assist in plea negotiations, trial preparation, trial, and mitigation. App. pp. 2863-2864. Specifically, she indicated that she would have been willing to testify at a Jackson v. Denno hearing

¹ Dr. Maddox also addressed her review of an MRI scan from 2011, which was abnormal. App. pp. 2853-2854.

regarding Petitioner's statement and at trial. App. p. 2866. She referenced Petitioner's testimony and his repeated responses that he did not remember, and she explained that she would have advised counsel that Petitioner should not testify at trial. App. p. 2865.

She further testified regarding Petitioner's testimony, as follows:

Question: What would have been your advice regarding putting him on the stand and having him testify at trial? You would have advised him not to do that?

Answer: Absolutely, because, just as you – in looking at this testimony, he would have difficulty remembering. He could easily be confused.

The problem with dementia is when you are conversationally attacked [intact], like Mr. Herring is, you can't tell – there is a condition in dementia called confabulation. And what that means is, your brain, when it can't remember something, it fills in the gaps. And it is not lying, it is not on purpose. Your brain fills in the gaps. And so you can't tell – no one is a human lie detector, so you can't tell when somebody with dementia is confabulating or they are actually relying upon their memory to recall something. So his memory also would not have been reliable in this case.

App. p. 2865, lns. 7-21.

Finally, Dr. Maddox was asked about the reply testimony of Dr. Garvin, who was qualified as expert in the area of clinical and forensic toxicology and drug chemistry, and she responded that the appropriate expert to testify about whether Petitioner's actions were purposeful would be a forensic psychologist or forensic psychiatrist. App. p. 2101, 2867-2868. In explaining her opinion regarding the testimony offered by Dr. Garvin regarding Petitioner on the surveillance video, she concluded: "Judging someone's intent or purposes just based on movements is not a good methodology." App. p. 2867, ln. 20 – p. 2868, ln. 3. She further explained that "persons with dementia... may not be

intoxicated to the point that you are stumbling or that you can't perform certain motor tests or neurological tests, but you still can be significantly cognitively impaired because of the underlying mental condition." App. p. 2868, lns. 15-22. She agreed that she would have been capable of testifying about Petitioner's mental health and medications instead of trial counsel merely asking Dr. Garvin about it.

When trial counsel took the stand, he acknowledged the Order he obtained for Petitioner to receive emergency mental health treatment. App. p. 2887. In response to whether he was aware that Petitioner was suffering from a mental illness at the time of his representation he responded:

Yes. He had been under the treatment prior to this incident by Dr. Phil Steude, who is a psychiatrist here in town. And Dr. Steude, we contacted Dr. Steude about, you know, trying to figure out if there was some mental defense.

Steude indicated that Dewain had been diagnosed bipolar and was on medication at the time of the incident, or had been prescribed medication. And that alcohol and that medication did not mix very well, that it made the person – affected their conduct, mental thoughts.

And, of course, the testimony was clear that he had been playing golf that day with Chris Isgett and they had been drinking and then he – apparently he had some drinks at the different establishments he had gone to. So it was clear, he was drinking alcohol with that medication, and that could provide some explanation for his conduct, which would be voluntary intoxication, which is not a defense.

So we actually attempted to show that his conduct was more consistent with him being given a, in the vernacular, Mickey, somebody had put something in his drink. We had an expert testifying about that. Apparently that didn't go very far.

App. p. 2887, ln. 18 – 2888, ln. 17.

During his testimony, trial counsel agreed that he assisted Petitioner with obtaining disability coverage due to cognitive impairment and inability to operate his law

practice, probably had Dr. Haxton's report and was on notice of Petitioner's cognitive impairment. App. pp. 2889, 2904, 2954-2955. He explained that he was relying upon Dr. Steude to review the report and give him an opinion, which he recalled as: "Bipolar was all he ever talked about." App. p. 2889, lns. 11-17. On cross-examination, he stated: "I now know that the information I received from Dr. Steude was not complete or accurate." App. p. 2947, lns. 19-22. When asked about Dr. Steude's qualifications, he explained that he did not "know what he is qualified in." App. p. 2952, ln. 20 - 2953, ln. 1.

He confirmed his familiarity with and utilization of Dr. Maddox as an expert. When asked why he did not utilize her services, he again responded that he deferred to Dr. Steude. App. p. 2890. He explained:

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