STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Aug 13 2020

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Richland County
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Trial Judge
Jocelyn Newman, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2020-000205

H. DEWAIN HERRING,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred in denying him relief as to two separate claims of ineffective assistance of counsel—first, Petitioner claims counsel was ineffective in his handling of Petitioner's mental health; and second, Petitioner claims counsel was ineffective in his handling of the crime scene investigation. However, the PCR court properly considered the record in its entirety, listened to the evidence and arguments presented, and determined Petitioner did not meet his burden of establishing counsel was constitutionally ineffective as to either claim. These findings are supported by ample probative evidence and not premised on any errors of law, and accordingly, this Court should deny certiorari.

Petitioner, like all other defendants, has a right to the assistance of effective counsel as provided by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). Petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations in his PCR action, and when alleging counsel was constitutionally ineffective, he must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined

the proper functioning of the adversarial process that it cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686. In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. First, Petitioner must prove counsel’s performance was deficient. Id.; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Id. The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668.

Moreover, Strickland does not require a finding of ineffectiveness merely for deviation from a rigid rule of representation. Rather, Strickland requires the applicant to prove “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the

defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 697. The function of the PCR court is to determine if “in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professional competent assistance” required of a criminal defense attorney.” Id. at 690.

Although courts may not indulge “post hoc rationalization” for counsel’s decision-making that contradicts the available evidence of counsel’s actions, Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 526-527 (2003), neither may they insist counsel confirm every aspect of the strategic basis for actions. There is a “strong presumption” that counsel’s attention to certain issues to the exclusion of others reflects trial tactics rather than “sheer neglect.” Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003). After an adverse verdict at trial even the most experienced counsel may find it difficult to resist asking whether a different strategy might have been better, and, in the course of that reflection, to magnify their own responsibility for an unfavorable outcome. Strickland, however, calls for an inquiry into the objective reasonableness of counsel’s performance, not counsel’s subjective state of mind. Strickland at 688; Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86 (2011).

With respect to prejudice, an applicant must demonstrate “a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. It is not enough “to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding.” Id. at 693. Counsel’s errors must be “so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.” Id. at 687. Harrington, 562 U.S. 86.

“Surmounting Strickland’s high bar is never an easy task.” Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 371 (2010). An ineffective assistance of counsel claim can function as a way to escape rules of waiver and forfeiture and raise issues not presented at trial, and so the Strickland standard must be applied with scrupulous care, lest “intrusive post-trial inquiry” threaten the integrity of

the very adversarial process the right to counsel is meant to serve. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689–690. Even under *de novo* review, the standard for judging counsel’s representation is a most deferential one. Unlike a later reviewing court, the attorney observed the relevant proceedings, knew of materials outside the record, and interacted with the client, opposing counsel, and the judge. It is “all too tempting” to “second-guess counsel’s assistance after conviction or adverse sentence.” Id. at 689; see also Bell v. Cone, 535 U. S. 685, 702 (2002); Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U. S. 364, 372 (1993). The question is whether an attorney’s representation amounted to incompetence under “prevailing professional norms,” not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom. Strickland, 466 U.S at 690.

In assessing prejudice under Strickland, the question is not whether a court can be certain counsel’s performance had no effect on the outcome or whether it is possible a reasonable doubt might have been established if counsel acted differently. Wong v. Belmontes, 558 U.S. 15 (2009); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. Instead, Strickland asks whether it is “reasonably likely” the result would have been different. Id. at 696. This does not require a showing that counsel’s actions “more likely than not altered the outcome,” but the difference between Strickland’s prejudice standard and a more-probable-than-not standard is slight and matters “only in the rarest case.” Id. at 693, 697. The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable. Id. at 693; Harrington, 562 U.S. 86.

“In determining whether the applicant has proven prejudice, the PCR court should consider the specific impact counsel’s error had on the outcome of the trial.” Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 188, 810 S.E.2d 836, 843 (2018) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695-96 (explaining the court must analyze how individual errors of counsel affect the important factual findings in a particular case)). “In addition, the PCR court should consider the strength of the State’s case in

light of all the evidence presented to the jury.” Smalls, 422 S.C. at 188, 810 S.E.2d at 843 (citing Jones v. State, 332 S.C. 329, 333, 504 S.E.2d 822, 824 (1998) (“In deciding whether Jones was prejudiced, we must bear in mind the strength of the government’s case . . . ,” and “we must consider the totality of the evidence before the jury.”)). “In general, the stronger the evidence presented by the State, the less likely the PCR court will find the applicant met his burden of proving prejudice.” Smalls, 422 S.C. at 188, 810 S.E.2d at 843 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 696 (stating “a verdict . . . only weakly supported by the record is more likely to have been affected by errors than one with overwhelming record support”). However, while the strength of the State case is one significant factor the PCR court must consider when determining whether an applicant can establish prejudice, it is generally not a categorical bar that precludes a finding of prejudice. Smalls, 422 S.C. at 188, 810 S.E.2d at 843. However, this Court has reiterated that there are rare cases where overwhelming evidence of an applicant’s guilt precludes a finding of prejudice; in those cases, “the evidence must include something conclusive, such as a confession, DNA evidence demonstrating guilt, or a combination of physical and corroborating evidence so strong that the Strickland standard of ‘a reasonable probability . . . the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt’” cannot possibly be met.” Smalls, 422 S.C. at 191, 810 S.E.2d at 845.

I. The PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to establish counsel was constitutionally ineffective in his handling of Petitioner’s mental health.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because counsel was ineffective in handling his mental health. In support of this claim, Petitioner presented evidence through two expert witnesses establishing he has mild dementia. Petitioner asserts counsel should have recognized his mild dementia and used it in a variety of ways. Specifically, Petitioner asserts trial counsel should have used his mild dementia: first, during plea negotiations to secure a favorable plea offer to a lesser-included offense; second, to challenge the

voluntariness of his statements to law enforcement both pre-trial and during trial; third, to advise Petitioner not to testify in his own defense; and fourth, to respond to the State's reply testimony that Petitioner was not drugged or involuntarily intoxicated. Petitioner further asserts counsel's failure to utilize this mild dementia resulted in such prejudice that he is entitled to a new trial.

The PCR court correctly rejected these claims, finding trial counsel properly relied upon his vast personal experience with Petitioner—a fellow successful lawyer whom he had known for decades—and Petitioner's treating psychiatrist with whom he consulted extensively in preparation for trial, in determining his trial preparation and strategy and the course of conduct to take or recommend in Petitioner's case. These findings are supported by ample evidence in the record and are not premised by any errors of law.

Trial counsel Harpootlian, who knew Petitioner prior to his representation in this criminal matter, testified he had no reason to believe that Petitioner was suffering from dementia based on his personal experiences and interactions with Petitioner. (App. 2882, 2891-93, 2917-18). He testified he was aware Petitioner had mental health concerns, including a bipolar diagnosis, and he consulted extensively with Petitioner's personal psychiatrist, Dr. Phil Steude, who had been treating Petitioner for a decade at the time of the incident, to assist in crafting his defense strategy. (App. 2855, 2887). Trial counsel elaborated Dr. Steude was one of the "go-to people in criminal cases to do all the sort of analysis" needed to formulate a defense or attack a conviction and counsel previously used him as an expert witness in criminal cases. (App. 2888-2904, 2928, 2946-47, 2953). Trial counsel testified based on Dr. Steude's "great" reputation and his prior experience with Dr. Steude coupled with Dr. Steude's extensive experience with Petitioner, trial counsel relied on Dr. Steude's advice regarding Petitioner's mental health and any possible mitigation or defense evidence related to Petitioner's mental health. (App. 2888-2904, 2928,

2946-47, 2953). This was reasonable based on the facts and circumstances of this case. See Garren v. State, 423 S.C. 1, 13, 813 S.E.2d 704, 710–11 (2018) (finding the record contained “no evidence to support a finding that counsel’s decision not to seek a competency evaluation fell below reasonable professional norms” based on counsel’s own interactions with his client); Jeter v. State, 308 S.C. 230, 232–33, 417 S.E.2d 594, 596 (finding counsel acted reasonably in relying on his own perceptions of a defendant’s competency), Ramirez v. State, 419 S.C. 14, 22–23, 795 S.E.2d 841, 845–46 (2017) (finding plea counsel was deficient in failing to seek an independent competency evaluation where plea counsel was “clearly on notice” the defendant had mental health issues based on his own personal interactions with the defendant, as well as a previous psychological evaluation identifying several mental health issues). The PCR court properly found trial counsel performed reasonably as to Petitioner’s mental health. Petitioner’s assertions “counsel was deficient in relying upon his own familiarity with Petitioner and Petitioner’s treating psychiatrist” is wrong and not supported by law. (PWC 16).

Moreover, the PCR court properly found Petitioner could not establish any prejudice. While the PCR court used the term “overwhelming evidence of guilt,” it is clear the finding is premised on the strength of the State’s case and the belief that trial counsel’s purported failure to recognize and utilize Petitioner’s mild dementia would not have resulted in a different result. Simply put, Petitioner still would have been convicted of murder even if trial counsel had presented the same evidence from the PCR hearing regarding his mild dementia. The State’s case against Petitioner was overwhelmingly strong: numerous eyewitnesses identified Petitioner as the man who was in the champagne room naked, who was ordered to leave, who threatened the strip club employees, and who got into an SUV from which John John was fatally shot a short time later. Additionally, the SUV from which the fatal shot was fired was registered to Petitioner

and security footage from the entrance to his gated community showed Petitioner arriving home in the same vehicle wearing the same clothing he was wearing at the club. Even if you discount the evidence Petitioner now asserts should have been challenged with his mild dementia diagnosis, such as his statement to law enforcement, there is still overwhelming evidence that would have led a jury to convict Petitioner of John John's murder. The PCR court properly found the result of Petitioner's trial would remain unchanged based on the strength of the State's case. See Smalls, 422 S.C. at 188, 810 S.E.2d at 843 ("In addition, the PCR court should consider the strength of the State's case in light of all the evidence presented to the jury.")

Additionally, trial counsel correctly (and extensively) testified that any mental health information, whether it was bipolar disorder (which he knew of) or mild dementia (which he was unaware of and had no rational reason to suspect) would not have been a viable defense, but could have potentially been exclusively used in mitigation. Any of the evidence Petitioner presented at the post-conviction relief hearing would not have had any impact on the result of Petitioner's proceeding—his *mild* dementia diagnosis was not a viable defense to murder. It would not have impacted the sheer absence of any sufficient legal provocation or heat of passion to reduce the killing to voluntary manslaughter. See State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 101, 525 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2000) (noting voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. Heat of passion alone will not suffice to reduce murder to voluntary manslaughter. Both heat of passion and sufficient legal provocation must be present at the time of the killing."). Lastly, Petitioner's mild dementia would have reduced the killing to involuntary manslaughter because Petitioner was neither engaged in (1) an unlawful activity not naturally tending to cause death or great bodily harm or (2) a lawful activity with reckless disregard for the safety of others. Sullivan v. State, 407 S.C.

241, 244–45, 754 S.E.2d 885, 887 (Ct. App. 2014) (citing State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 408, 414, 706 S.E.2d 12, 15 (2011)). The result of Petitioner’s trial would remain unchanged had counsel utilized his mild dementia. The PCR court properly denied relief.

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